IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In re A.G., a Person Coming Under the Juvenile Court Law.

MICHAEL G.,

Petitioner,

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF ORANGE COUNTY,

Respondent;

ORANGE COUNTY SOCIAL SERVICES AGENCY, et al.,

Real Party in Interest.

S271809

Court of Appeal No. G060407

Orange County Superior Court No. 19DP1381

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After the Published Decision of the Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District, Division Three Filed October 6, 2021

QUESTION PRESENTED

 Whether the dependency statutory scheme requires courts to extend reunification efforts beyond the 18-month review, held pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code¹ section 366.22, when families have been denied adequate reunification services in the preceding review period.

¹ Statutory references are to this Code unless otherwise noted.

INTRODUCTION

The present case involves the adjudication of protected liberty interests at the 18-month review. At issue is whether the statutory scheme requires courts to determine that families were provided adequate reunification services in the period preceding the 18-month review before terminating those services and scheduling the section 366.26 hearing. Given the fundamental liberty interests at stake, such a finding should be mandatory in order for the statutory scheme to comport with due process and fundamental fairness. However, due to an ambiguous statutory scheme, case law has yet to deliver a clear and uniform answer.

Provisions that govern status reviews vary on whether and how a finding of reasonable services conditions the setting of the section 366.26 hearing. Those governing the six- and twelve-month review hearings expressly condition the setting of the section 366.26 hearing on a finding of reasonable services. (§ 366.21, subds. (e)(3) and (g)(1)(C)(ii).) In contrast, the statutes applicable at the 18-month review, namely sections 366.22, subdivision (b) and 361.5, subdivision (a)(4)(A), seem to have eliminated the reasonable services requirement for all but a narrowly-defined subset, that many parents cannot meet. As Justice Goodwin Liu of this Court noted, "it is unclear why the Legislature would have chosen to provide such

protection only to this subset of parents and guardians" (*J.C. v. Superior Court* (Aug. 23, 2017, S243357) Statement Respecting Denial Of Review By Liu, J. (J.C.) [2017 Cal. Lexis 6576, at p. *8].)

The need for settled and uniform guidance on when a court may terminate reunification efforts cannot be overstated. The decision to terminate reunification services, which triggers the setting of the section 366.26 hearing, has the potential to gravely affect this liberty interest as it "is often the prelude to termination of parental rights." (In re D.N. (2020) 56 Cal.App.5th 741, 743.) As is well-established, "the interest of parents in the care, custody, and control of their children-is perhaps the oldest of the fundamental liberty interests recognized by [the United States Supreme] Court." (Troxel v. Granville (2000) 530 U.S. 57, 65.) Furthermore, parents and their children have a recognized "interest in each other's care and companionship" (In re Jasmon O. (1994) 8 Cal.4th 398, 419) and "share an interest in avoiding erroneous termination." (Santosky v. Kramer (1982) 455 U.S. 745, 765 [rejecting court's assumption that termination of the natural parents' rights invariably will benefit the child].)

The provision of reasonable services is a vital component of family reunification and ensures the constitutionality of the dependency statutory scheme. "Providing reasonable services is one of 'the precise and demanding substantive and procedural requirements ... carefully calculated to constrain judicial discretion, diminish the risk of erroneous findings of parental inadequacy and detriment to the child, and otherwise protect the legitimate interests of the parents.'" (*In re M.F.* (2019) 32 Cal.App.5th 1, 19, quoting, *Cynthia D. v. Superior Court* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 242, 256.) As such, a requisite finding of reasonable services should be no hollow formality.

Accordingly, for the statutory scheme to comport with due process and fundamental fairness, the requisite finding of reasonable services in section 366.22 should precondition the termination of services and setting of the section 366.26 hearing for all parents, not just those narrowly defined in section 366.22, subdivision (b)

///

STATEMENT OF FACTS / PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Basis for Dependency and Detention

On October 31, 2019, the juvenile court granted the Orange County Social Services Agency's (SSA) request for a protective custody warrant to remove A.G., then 14 years of age, from her parents due to concerns that she was at risk due to Father's paranoia and delusional behavior. (1CT17-19, 22-24.) A.G.'s mother, with whom A.G. had no contact or relationship, was known to be living in North Carolina and could not be located during the initial investigation. (1CT2.)

A.G. reported being afraid of Father and explained that things began to worsen over the past two years. (1CT33-34, 76.) She said Father's thoughts "switched over to demons" when he began reading the Bible three years prior. (1CT77.) He used to say the "munchkins" and demons were after him. (1CT77.) A.G. would ignore Father when he would "babble about demons" because it was scary and embarrassing, especially when her friends were in the car. (1CT77.)

A.G. said she often awoke in the middle of the night to Father throwing and breaking things, punching walls, and yelling. (1CT22, 34.) She said Father would often throw things and do "scary stuff" like talk to demons and to himself. (1CT76.) He would also have outbursts and yell things like, "you're being trained to be a prostitute" or "that's witchcraft."

(1CT76.) Father would only buy her plain clothing that did not "have ties to demons." (1CT76.) He withdrew A.G. from cheer team because he believed the music was associated with the government, demons and witchcraft.

(1CT77.)

Father would see and hear things that were not there and believed the government was listening to him. (1CT24, 34.) They once moved because Father believed their house was "bugged" by the government, witches and demons. (1CT22, 33.) Father talked about moving to Arizona for these reasons. (1CT24-25) He also talked about moving to North Carolina to reconnect with A.G.'s mother. (1CT34.) Father also spoke of protecting A.G. by sending her to a host family nobody knew (1CT24) or to a location he would not specify. (1CT34)

Six months prior, Father woke her in the middle of the night screaming for her. (1CT22, 24.) Father believed demons were holding him down and asked A.G. to read the Bible aloud for 2 hours to send them away. (1CT22, 24.) A.G. was terrified and called her eldest brother, who lived outside the home, for immediate help. (1CT22, 24.) This happened once or twice. (1CT77.)

A.G. said the "final straw" occurred on October 30, 2019. On that date, Father whispered to A.G. that they were moving and said, "The devils are listening." (1CT25, 34, 77.) After Father would not say where they were

going, A.G. panicked and called her adult brother Ian² to pick her up because she did not understand what was happening and feared she would be hurt. (ICT25, 34, 77.) Father became angry, screamed about the government, threw things and said they had to leave because devils were going to turn A.G. into a prostitute. (1CT25, 34.) Father said he had to keep them safe and wanted to leave the following morning because someone was coming for them. (1CT25.) A.G. ran out of the house and was picked up by a family friend. (1CT34, 77.) A.G. spent the night with her brother Ian and missed school because she was still shaken. (1CT25, 34.)

A.G. wanted to remain in California. (1CT25.) She was in the 9th grade and she said school was good. (1CT33.) She used to spend weekends where her adult brothers lived with the F. family, but Father recently stopped her from going and called the F. parents the devil. (D14.) A.G. felt safe in the F. family's home but did not feel safe going back to Father. (1CT33, 35.) She wanted no contact with him. (1CT42.) Father frequently talked to himself and often told A.G. that voices told him to do things. (1CT35.) A.G. was afraid that the voices would tell him to hurt himself,

 $^{^{2}}$ A.G. has two adult brothers, Ian and Shane, who began living with the F. family under legal guardianships. Neither brother was the subject of this dependency proceeding. Shane was away at school but would return for holidays. (1CT5, 32.)

A.G. or others. A.G. was afraid of Father because this was the worst he had been. (1CT35.)

However, A.G. reported Father did not hit her, nor threatened to harm her or anyone else, and was meeting her needs which she appreciated. (1CT25, 33, 76.) She denied physical and sexual abuse, or witnessing domestic violence or substance abuse by Father. (1CT33, 76.) Father did not discipline her as she was rarely in trouble. (1CT33.) A.G. said Father had no psychiatric history or mental health diagnoses, and he was not a drug user. (1CT25.)

Father told the social worker the issue was that A.G. was against moving out of state. (1CT44.) When A.G. became aware of the impending move, she panicked and told Father she would not be moving with him. (1CT44.) Father believed it was best for A.G. to leave California's culture that divides families and encourages narcissism and liberals. (1CT45.) He felt California lacks Christian values and he wanted to move to a state like North Carolina where the Bible is accepted. (1CT44, 81.) Father wanted to protect A.G. from all modern day witchcraft and from becoming a harlot or prostitute, which he clarified was not someone who sells their body for sex but someone who is brainwashed into slavery by the state of California and commits their values and soul to the anti-Christian agenda. (1CT22, 37, 44, 81.) Father was concerned for A.G.'s well-being and said multiple times, "they are trying to get her," referring to the government, her friends, and people at school. (1CT81.)

When asked about A.G. being fearful of these issues, Father denied discussing them with her in detail and said he had been gentle with her and wanted to protect her. (1CT81.) Father denied knowing how his behaviors affected A.G.'s well-being. (1CT81.) Father said he received "indications" to move but was vague about his plan. (1CT37-38.) Father had not planned to tell A.G. about the move, but since she was "onto him," he told her and she became upset and cried. (1CT37-38.)

Father denied having mental health or substance use issues. (1CT22, 37, 95.) He said he is a Christian who regularly attends church. (1CT95.) He denied hearing voices, throwing and breaking items, and punching walls. (1CT44.) He also denied believing his home had been bugged. He explained that as a forensic scientist having undergone many psychological assessments, he could not have maintained his position had he been found mentally unstable. (1CT44.)

Father said he retired the previous week after 17 years of working for the Orange County Sheriff Department Crime Lab. (1CT37, 81, 97.) He provided a business card showing his job title as a Forensic Scientist III in the Coroner's office. (1CT81.) He reported seeing witchcraft, anti-Christ

rituals and special trainings to brainwash government workers but would not discuss propriety matters. (1CT37, 81.)

A.G. said her last contact with her mother was when she was in fifth or sixth grade. (1CT77.) Father would not allow A.G. to see her mother after she had taken A.G. to North Carolina without telling him. The police got involved and Father was awarded full custody of A.G. by the family law court. (1CT24, 37.)

The F. parents took in A.G.'s adult brothers, Ian and Shane, into their home when the boys were 16 and 13 years of age respectively. (1CT32, 38.) Father agreed to the F. parents being the boys' legal guardians while A.G. remained in Father's care. (1CT32.) The F. mother said there had been increasing concern over the past two years about A.G.'s wellbeing due to Father's worsening mental health and A.G.'s increasing fear of him. (1CT32-33.) She always thought Father was mentally ill and had heard him increasingly rant about the government, religion, Satan and demons that were after him and A.G. (1CT32.) Father did not want A.G. spending time with the F. parents whom he called devils for stealing A.G.'s brothers and brainwashing them against him. (1CT32-33, 35, 38-39.)

A.G.'s brother Ian said Father had always been "off" but he began to worsen about two years prior. (1CT35.) Ian said Father can present as normal but something flips a switch and he goes off on a rant. Father talked to himself, spoke of demons and witchcraft, and believed the government was out to get him. He continuously texted "warnings" about artificial intelligence taking over the world. (1CT35.) Ian was worried that voices would tell him to harm A.G. (1CT36.)

On November 4, 2019, SSA filed a dependency petition alleging in ¶ b-1, that Father had unresolved mental health issues; in ¶ b-2, that Mother had a history of mental health issues, which may be unresolved; in ¶ b-3 that Mother had a criminal history that includes convictions and/or arrests for driving under the influence of alcohol (Vehicle Code section 23152(b), and willful cruelty to a child (Penal Code section 273a(b)); and in ¶ b-4, that Mother's whereabouts were unknown and she had not maintained a relationship with A.G. (1CT51.)

Detention Findings and Orders

At the detention hearing on November 5, 2019, the juvenile court detained A.G. from the parents and ordered monitored family time of ten hours per week for Father. (1CT56; RT7-8.) The court clarified that visits would occur with A.G.'s input but she would not have veto power. (1CT57; RT10-11.) SSA would determine the time, place and manner of family time. (1CT57; RT10-11.)

Post-Detention to Jurisdiction and Disposition

A.G. had been living with her adult brother Ian in the home of the F. family. (1CT65, 107.) The F. family lived in a two-level, four-bedroom and one bonus room, 4.5 bathroom house in a gated community in Newport Coast. (1CT139.) A.G. had her own bedroom. (1CT139.) A.G. enjoyed living with her brother and being around family after feeling alone living with Father. (1CT77.) She said the home was normal and calm due to the absence of yelling. Although A.G. felt "scared, mad, and sad" and unsafe with Father, she wanted him to get help and address his mental health issues to be "normal" and said she would return to him once he got better and was safe to be around. (1CT77-78, 98-99.)

A.G. listed her father among the persons who love her and are important in her life. (1CT94.) As of November 15, 2021, A.G. was not ready for visits as she wanted Father to enroll in services to get the help he needed. (1CT110.) She felt that if visits began prior to him servicing, nothing would change. However, A.G. was open to having monitored phone calls with Father. (1CT110.) The F. parents said A.G. missed her father but was afraid to see him. They wanted him to get better but felt he had hit rock bottom. (1CT94.)

Father wanted A.G. returned to his care so they could move to North Carolina. (1CT99.) He said he is a good and loving father to A.G., had a good relationship with her and had provided for all her needs. (1CT96.)

After initially feeling services were unnecessary, he became willing to participate in them to start the reunification process. (1CT98.) However, Father did not feel the need for nor was interested in taking medication. (1CT98.) Father worried about how long it would take for his daughter to be returned to his care. (1CT98.)

On November 7, 2019, Father collaborated with the Family Services Worker on case plan services and signed the case plan development forms. (1CT100, 111.) Father was recommended to participate in individual counseling, parent education, and parent mentor services. (1CT100-101.) Father believed counseling services could benefit A.G. and wanted her to talk about the current situation. (1CT106.)

Services

On December 3, 2019, SSA reported Father and Mother were willing to accept services to "become the parents their children need them to be." (1CT111.) SSA recommended family reunification services to the parents. (1CT65.) Father's case plan included general counseling and if necessary, medication; a psychological evaluation; and parenting education. (1CT116-117.)

On December 6, 2019, Father's therapist reported that Father denied knowing he had to engage in therapy services. (1CT130.) When told

therapy was recommended but not required, Father said he would wait for the next court hearing to be court ordered. (1CT131.)

Family Time

A.G. had no desire to see Father until he enrolled in services but was willing begin with monitored phone calls. (1CT109.) On December 5, 2019, A.G. said the phone calls with Father made her sad because "he tries to make me feel bad for him." (1CT130.) A.G. felt Father was acting as if nothing was wrong and she declined all visits with him. A.G. wanted to remain in her current placement and "worried" about returning to live with her father. (1CT130.)

As of January 17, 2020, the caregivers reported that Father had not called A.G. for three weeks. (1CT138-141.) The caregivers said A.G. was hurt around Christmas because Father did not call or send her a gift, but took out one of the adult brothers and spent a lot of money on him. (1CT141.) However, a phone call on January 13, 2020 reportedly went fine. Father talked about how he was helping his father on a vineyard and would be moving into a guesthouse in San Marcos. (1CT141.)

A.G. reported feeling safe in her placement. (1CT142.) She at times felt intimidated and manipulated by Father when he tried to make her feel bad for him and uncomfortable by saying he knows everything she says to the social worker. (1CT142.) A.G. said Father has two sides; one that talks about demons, and the other that is "normal." She said she misses the normal side and it makes her sad. (1CT142.)

Jurisdiction and Disposition Findings and Orders

On January 28, 2020, the dependency petition was amended to strike the reference in paragraph B-1 to a suicide attempt that was mistakenly attributed to Father. (1CT146; RT16-17.)

During the evidentiary hearing, Father testified that as a Christian, he believes in the existence of demons and witches. (RT21-23, 33.) However, he denied hearing voices, and said he had never been told by a demon to do anything aggressive to his daughter. (RT20, 24, 31.) He did not believe the government bugged his home. (RT24-25.) Father was concerned that if A.G. remained in secular California, she would become a prostitute, which he clarified meant she would turn from God to idolatry. (RT25.) Father contemplated moving to North Carolina, three hours from where A.G.'s mother lives, and where he could easily find work with his chemistry degree. (RT26-27.) Father denied planning to send A.G. off to live with a host family. (RT35.) Father argued there was no substantial risk A.G. would suffer serious physical harm or illness in Father's care. (RT44.)

Although the juvenile court respected Father's firmly held religious beliefs, the court nonetheless found A.G. was at risk of physical and emotional danger in Father's care. (RT50-52.) The juvenile court found the amended petition to be true, declared A.G. to be a dependent, and made removal findings pursuant to section 361, subdivision (c)(1). (1CT147-148, 151-153; RT51-52.) The court also ordered a psychological evaluation pursuant to Evidence Code section 730 evaluation (730 evaluation) of Father to ascertain his beliefs and "what we need to work on and don't need to work on." (1CT149; RT54.) The evaluation was to address the "presence of developmental disabilities / psychiatric dysfunctions which would interfere with parenting capacity" and "whether parent is suffering from mental disorder that requires specialized treatment." (1CT159.) The court appointed Dr. Jennifer Bosch to conduct the 730 evaluation by April 23, 2020. (1CT155-156.)

The juvenile court also approved the case plan which required Father to participate in individual, conjoint, family and/or group therapy, participate in parenting education, take medication if deemed necessary, and cooperate with a psychological evaluation ordered by the court and follow its recommendations. (1CT116-117, 152.)

Father appealed the juvenile court's jurisdictional and disposition orders and findings, which were affirmed by the Fourth District Court of Appeal, Division Three in an unpublished opinion in case number G059045 on October 27, 2020. (1CT290-302.)

Six-Month Review Period

At the six-month review hearing, SSA recommended continuing reunification services to the twelve-month review. (1CT247.)

Family Time

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