S271809

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

MICHAEL G.,

Petitioner

VS.

SUPERIOR COURT OF ORANGE COUNTY,

Respondent;

ORANGE COUNTY SOCIAL SERVICES AGENCY, et al.,

Real Parties in Interest

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal
Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. G060407
(Michael G. v. Superior Court (2021) 69 Cal.App.5th 1133)
Denying a Petition for Extraordinary Writ Relief to the Superior Court
For the County of Orange, Case No. 19DP1381
Honorable Antony C. Ufland, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE LEGISLATURE HAS STRUCTURED A DEPENDENCY SYSTEM
THAT BALANCES MULTIPLE, SOMETIMES COMPETING
INTERESTS, AND INCLUDES SHIFTING PRESUMPTIONS BASED ON
THE LENGTH AND STATUS OF THE CASE

This Court has long established that it does not sit in judgment of the Legislature's wisdom in balancing competing public policies, but instead follows the Legislature's discernable public policy choices. (Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation Authority v. Alameda Produce Market, LLC (2011) 52 Cal.4th 1100, 1113-1114.) "The judiciary, in reviewing statutes enacted by the Legislature, may not undertake to evaluate the wisdom of the policies embodied in such legislation; absent a constitutional prohibition, the choice among competing policy considerations in enacting laws is a legislative function." (Superior Court v. County of Mendocino (1996) 13 Cal.4th 45, 53.) "In sum, the Legislature is better situated than we are to tackle the '[s]ignificant policy judgments affecting social policies and commercial relationships' implicated in this case. [Citations.]" (Sheen v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (2022) 12 Cal.5th 905, 290 Cal.Rptr.3d 834, 864.) An argument that the statutes could or should have been written differently is more appropriately addressed to the Legislature, which can study the various policy and factual questions and decide what rules are best for society. (Skidgel v. California Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd. (2021) 12 Cal.5th 1, 26.)

The 18-month review requirements at issue must be interpreted in the context of the entire dependency scheme. "Dependency provisions 'must be construed with reference to [the] whole system of dependency law, so that all parts may be harmonized.' (*In re David H.* (1995) 33

Cal.App.4th 368, 387, 39 Cal.Rptr.2d 313; accord, *In re Marilyn H.* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 295, 307, 19 Cal.Rptr.2d 544, 851 P.2d 826 ['One section of the dependency law may not be considered in a vacuum']; *Cynthia D. v. Superior Court* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 242, 253, 19 Cal.Rptr.2d 698, 851 P.2d 1307 [individual dependency statute 'cannot properly be understood except in the context of the entire dependency process of which it is part'].)" (*Tonya M., supra,* 42 Cal.4th at pp. 844-845.)

The shifting presumptions and standards described *infra* exemplify the increasing importance of permanency and stability as dependency cases progress. "[T]he legislative recognition that time is of the essence...indicates the statute should be read in favor of promoting prompt rather than delayed resolutions." (*Tonya M., supra,* 42 Cal.4th at p. 847.)

The Legislature's juvenile dependency scheme constantly rebalances various interests as a case progresses. Ideally, all these goals align. But oftentimes they collide, and our Legislature, in developing the framework courts must apply, has the unenviable task of balancing difficult, emotionally fraught demands.

The dependency system has three primary goals. The first is to provide maximum safety and protection for children who are being, or are at risk of being, seriously abused, neglected, or exploited. (§ 300.2; see also §§ 202, subd. (a), 361, subd. (c)(1), 361.2, subd. (a), 361.3, subd. (a)(8), 366.21, subd. (e)(1).) The second goal is to preserve families and safeguard parents' fundamental right to raise their children. (§§ 202, subd. (a), 300.2; see also § 361.5, subd. (a).) The child may be removed from the custody of his or her parents only when necessary for his or her welfare. (§ 202, subd. (a), 361, subd. (c).) If removal is determined by the juvenile

court to be necessary, reunification of the child with his or her family is a primary objective. (§ 202, subd. (a).)

The third goal is to provide a stable, permanent home for the child in a timely manner. Children are better served by a permanent placement through adoption or guardianship than in foster care. (§ 396.) "We have long recognized that providing children expeditious resolutions is a core concern of the entire dependency scheme." (*Tonya M., supra,* 42 Cal.4th at p. 847 n.4.) "[D]ependent children have a critical interest in avoiding unnecessary delays to their long-term placement." (*In re A.R.* (2021) 11 Cal.5th 234, 249.) There is also the fundamental, overarching goal: the child's best interests. (§ 202, subd. (b).)

The dependency scheme sets up distinct periods and escalating standards for the provision of reunification services. The effect of these shifting standards is to make services first presumed, but then increasingly difficult to extend as the case progresses. (See *Tonya M., supra*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 845 [discussing the "shifting standards" in the context of children under age three at the time of removal].)

Between the dispositional hearing at which services are ordered and the review hearing held pursuant to section 366.21, subdivision (f) (the 12-month review hearing or permanency hearing), services are afforded as a matter of right, to parents of children three years or older at the time of removal from parental custody. (§ 361.5, subd. (a)(1)(A)).

The child's stability and permanency become more of a focus once a parent fails to reunify by the 12-month hearing, as it becomes clear that reunification may not occur. At that point, there is a shift in the balancing of interests toward the child's interests in permanency and stability, and the court is allowed to terminate reunification services and set a section 366.26

hearing. (§ 366.21, subd. (g)(4).) The court may extend reunification services, to the review hearing held pursuant to section 366.22, subdivision (a) (the 18-month review hearing or permanency review hearing), only if it finds there is a substantial probability the child will be returned safely to the parent's custody within the extended time period, or if it finds reasonable services were not provided. (§§ 361.5, subd. (a)(3)(A), 366.21, subd. (g)(1).)

At the 18-month review hearing, if the child is not returned, the balancing of interests shifts definitively towards the child's stability and permanency in all but specifically-excepted cases. "Section 366.22, subdivision (a), further provides that at the 18-month permanency review, '[u]nless the conditions in subdivision (b) are met and the child is not returned to a parent or legal guardian at the permanency review hearing, the court *shall* order that a hearing be held pursuant to Section 366.26...' (Italics added.)" (*Earl L. v. Superior Court* (2011) 199 Cal.App.4th 1490, 1502 (*Earl L.*).) As discussed in depth *infra*, an additional extension of services is barred except for parents in the limited circumstances specified in section 366.22, subdivision (b), or if the parents obtain a continuance under section 352.

Historically, the time at which reunification services are terminated and a section 366.26 hearing is set is when the parent's interest in reunification is no longer given precedence over the child's need for stability and permanency. (*In re Marilyn H.* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 295, 307, 309-310 (*Marilyn H.*); see also *In re Stephanie M.* (1994) 7 Cal.4th 295, 317; *Cynthia D. v. Superior Court* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 242, 254-256.) However, the Legislature has for some time also placed early emphasis on the child's stability and permanency. For decades now the juvenile law statutory scheme has required that permanency planning services must be

implemented concurrently with a child's removal from parents and the order of reunification services. (§§ 358.1, subd. (b), 366.21, subd. (l)(3) [provision regarding concurrent planning added by a 2000 amendment, Stats. 2000, ch. 910, § 9], 16501.1, subd. (g)(10) [provision that the case plan must include concurrent planning services added by a 1997 amendment, Stats. 1997, ch. 793, § 31]; California Rules of Court, rules 5.708(b)(1)(B), 5.690(a)(1)(B)(ii).

Father would have this Court adopt a prophylactic rule of automatically delaying the section 366.26 hearing based on a finding of no reasonable services in the immediately preceding review period, regardless of any potential harm suffered by the child due to such delay. (See Opening Brief 41-42, 61-64.) This rule would subvert the statutory scheme, by penalizing the child by delaying his or her stable, permanent home. This Court should instead recognize and give effect to the case-and-fact-specific inquiry set forth in the existing statutory framework. As SSA will demonstrate *infra*, Father's contrary interpretation of section 366.22 and section 361.5 is at odds with the structure of the applicable statutes themselves, the legislative history of those statutory sections, and much of existing authority.

B. THE PLAIN MEANINGS OF WELFARE AND INSTITUTIONS CODE
SECTION 366.22, SUBDIVISION (b) AND SECTION 361.5,
SUBDIVISION (a)(4)(A) ESTABLISH THAT A FAVORABLE
REASONABLE SERVICES FINDING IS UNNECESSARY TO SET A
SECTION 366.26 HEARING AT THE 18-MONTH REVIEW HEARING

By the 18-month review hearing, the Legislature prioritizes the child's stability and permanency over continued reunification efforts. If the child is not returned to parental custody pursuant to section 366.22,

subdivision (a)(1), then subdivision (a)(3) directs the court to terminate reunification services and set a section 366.26 hearing. The 18-month review hearing is well past the statutorily-required minimum 12-month reunification period. (See § 361.5, subd. (a)(1)(A).) In this case the parents had already received 12 months of reasonable reunification services. (CT 284, 378.)

By the 18-month review, the statutory scheme no longer requires a finding that reasonable services have been provided to move towards permanency planning. This differs from the six-month review date for children under three years when removed, or the 12-month review date for older children, when the juvenile court shall not set a section 366.26 hearing unless it has been shown by clear and convincing evidence that reasonable services have been provided. (§§ 361.5, subd. (a)(1)(A), (B); 366.21, subd. (g)(4).) In contrast, the part of section 366.22 that applies to all children at the 18-month review hearing, subdivision (a), does not contain the same requirement.

The parallel requirement to find that reasonable services have been provided before advancing to a section 366.26 hearing appears only in section 366.22, subdivision (b)(3)(C). Its relegation to that subsection of subdivision (b) – and its absence from the generally-applicable standards detailed in subdivision (a) – all but establishes that this requirement applies only to the parents described in subdivision (b). The first sentence of section 366.22, subdivision (b) makes clear that, for the subdivision to apply, and for the case to not proceed to a section 366.26 hearing, the case must involve (1) a parent making significant and consistent progress in a court-ordered residential substance abuse treatment program, (2) a parent who was a minor or nonminor dependent parent at the time of the initial hearing making significant and consistent progress in establishing a safe

home for the child's return, or (3) a parent who was recently discharged from incarceration, institutionalization, or the custody of the Department of Homeland Security (DHS) making significant and consistent progress in establishing a safe home for the child's return. (§ 366.22, subd. (b); see also § 361.5, subd. (a)(4)(A) [similar]; *People v. Youngblood* (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 66, 71-72 [courts "must interpret a statute consistently with the meaning derived from its grammatical structure"].)

Based on the specific language requiring a finding that reasonable services were provided at the six and 12-month reviews, if the Legislature intended to require a finding of reasonable services at the 18-month review, it would have done so. Instead, in 1991 the Legislature amended section 366.22, subdivision (a) such that termination of services was no longer contingent on a finding of reasonable services. (*Mark N. v. Superior Court* (1998) 60 Cal.App.4th 996, 1016, fn. 9 (*Mark N.*), referencing, Legis. Counsel's Dig., Sen. Bill No. 475, 4 Stats. 1991 (1991-1992 Reg. Sess.) Summary Dig., p. 352 ["This bill would require a court to determine whether reasonable services have been offered or provided to the parent or guardian but would delete that requirement as a precondition for developing a permanent plan"].)

Subdivision (a) provides: "Unless the conditions in subdivision (b) are met and the child is not returned to a parent or legal guardian at the permanency review hearing, the court shall order that a hearing be held pursuant to Section 366.26 in order to determine whether adoption, ... guardianship, or continued placement in foster care is the most appropriate plan for the child.... The court shall also order termination of reunification services to the parent or legal guardian.... The court shall determine whether reasonable services have been offered or provided to the parent or legal guardian." (§ 366.22, subd. (a)(3).) Thus, "[a]lthough the juvenile court

still must make a finding regarding whether reasonable services have been offered in such circumstances, its authority to set a section 366.26 hearing "is not conditioned on a reasonable services finding." [Citation.]" (*N.M. v. Superior Court* (2016) 5 Cal.App.5th 796, 806 (*N.M.*); Earl L., supra, 199 Cal.App.4th at p. 1504 [juvenile court has the option at the 18-month review hearing to continue services, in certain limited circumstances, for individuals specified in section 366.22, subdivision (b)]; San Joaquin Human Services Agency v. Superior Court (2014) 227 Cal.App.4th 215, 222–223 & fn. 5 (San Joaquin) [lower court lacked the ability to "extend services beyond 18 months, regardless of whether or not reasonable services were provided," because "the statutorily required factors [i.e., those listed in section 366.22, subdivision (b)] were not present."].)

Indeed, Father acknowledges that section 366.22 does not condition setting a section 366.26 hearing on a finding of reasonable services at the 18-month review hearing, except for the parents defined in section 366.22, subdivision (b). He erroneously argues, however, that section 366.22 conflicts with section 361.5, subdivision (a)(4)(A). (Opening Brief 48-51.)

In fact, section 361.5 reflects the same rule as section 366.22: if reasonable services have not been provided by the 12-month review hearing, all parents can get an extension of services up to the 18-month review hearing, but then only the parents with the special circumstances specified in section 366.22, subdivision (b) can get a further extension of services up to a 24-month hearing. Section 361.5, subdivision (a)(3)(A)'s provision for extension of services up to the 18-month review does not contain any limitation as to specific circumstances under which it applies. (§ 361.5, subd. (a)(3)(A).)

//

In contrast, section 361.5, subdivision (a)(4)(A)'s provision for extension of services up to the 24-month review limits its applicability to those parents with one of the specific circumstances described in section 366.22, subdivision (b).

Notwithstanding paragraph (3), court-ordered services may be extended up to a maximum time period not to exceed 24 months after the date the child was originally removed from physical custody of the child's parent or guardian if it is shown, at the hearing held pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 366.22, that the permanent plan for the child is that the child will be returned and safely maintained in the home within the extended time period. The court shall extend the time period only if it finds that it is in the child's best interest to have the time period extended and that there is a substantial probability that the child will be returned to the physical custody of the child's parent or guardian who is described in subdivision (b) of Section 366.22 within the extended time period, or that reasonable services have not been provided to the parent or guardian.

(§ 361.5, subd. (a)(4)(A).)

Section 361.5, subdivision (a)(4)(A) was amended together with section 366.22, subdivision (b). Those two statutory sections use similar language, and both were intended by the Legislature to allow additional extension of services only for parents in the specific circumstances enumerated in section 366.22, subdivision (b).

Father erroneously reads section 361.5, subdivision (a)(4)(A)'s final clause ("or that reasonable services have not been provided to the parent or guardian") to argue that the two statutory sections conflict, and that all parents at that late 18-month stage are guaranteed an extension of their reunification services based on a lack of reasonable services (Opening Brief 50-51), as do the reviewing courts in *T.J. v. Superior Court* (2018) 21 Cal.App.5th 1229, 1255-1256 (*T.J.*) and *In re M.F.* (2019) 32 Cal.App.5th

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